RECEIVED

NOV 10 2016

SC Court of Appeals

BANK OF AMERICA V. DEANER
CASE NUMBER: 2015-001119
APPELLANT FINAL BRIEF

BRIEF OF APPELLANT
THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS
Case Number: 2015-001119

RECEIVED
NOV 10 2016
SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
REFEREE JAMES MARTIN HARVEY, JR
CASE NO. 2012-CP-02-00699

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.....RESPONDENT

Successor to BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP f/k/a Countrywide

V.

CAROLYN S. DEANER.....APPELLANT

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JANIERE TAYLOR, Esq.

CAROLYN S. DEANER, Pro Se

TRENT GRISSOM, Esq.

Appellant/Pro Se

ROBERT MUCKENFUSS, Esq.

704 Kershaw Drive

CHARLIE GWYNNE, Esq.

North Augusta (Belvedere), SC 29841

(704) 343-2000

706) 399-5496

**ON APPEAL FROM THE AIKEN COUNTY, SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, COURT OF
COMMON PLEAS**

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF TO REVERSE JUDGEMENT ORDER AND CANCEL SALE

CAROLYN S. DEANER

APPELLANT, PRO SE

704 KERSHAW DRIVE

NORTH AUGUSTA (BELVEDERE), SC 29841

(706) 399-5496

I

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES.....	ii P2-6
STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL.....	P7-16
STATEMENT OF THE CASE.....	P17-39
FACTS.....	P41-44
CLAIMS/ARGUMENTS.....	P45-47
CONCLUSIONS.....	48

II TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

- 1. CARPENTER V. LONGAN (U.S.SUPREME COURT (1872)).....P 17,48**
- 2. YOUNG V. PEOPLE’S BANK (SC SUPREME COURT (1931)).....P 17**
- 3. DEUTSCHE BANK V. HEINRICH (SC 9th Cir Ct. 7/20/2013).....P17&18**
- 4. CORREA V. US BANK, N.A. (Fla 2nd D Ct App. 2013).....P5,17**
(reasoned that in sufficiency of evidence can be raised on Appeal
whether or not the party raised the issue at trial, and Plaintiff
failed to prove the terms of the Note)
- 5. NEW MEXICO SUPREME COURT, BONY V.ROMERO (NM SUPR.).....P20**
- 6. FOCHT V. WELLS FARGO (FLA Dis Ct APP 2002)P20**
- 7. BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON V. SHAFFER (OHIO 11THDisAPP,2013)..P29,36**
- 8. BAC HOME LOAN SERVICING V. MAPP (OHIO 12TH DIS CT APP 7/13)....P5**
- 9. NIDAY v. GMAC, (OREGON SUPREME COURT, 7/18/2012).....P49**
- 10. CROMARTY V. WELLS FARGO (FL 4th Dis Ct App 4/2013).....P18,37**
- 11. COUNTRYWIDE V. KEMP, (NJ, US BKRPT CT 2010).....P49**
- 12. MATRIX Financial Services. Corp v. Frazer,(SC SUPREME CT 8/2010)...P49**
- 13. WELLS FARGO V. BYRD (178 OHIO APP 2008).....P48**

- 14. **WELLS FARGO,LITTONLOAN V. FARMER (NY SUPREME,2008).....P48**
- 15. **KURIAN V. WELLS FARGO (Fla 4th Dis. Ct. App (2013).....P31**
- 16. **HERRARA V. DEUTSCHE BK NAT'L TRUST CO. (CAL APP 4TH 2011).....P35**
- 17. **SCOTT V. JPMORGAN CHASE BANK N.A.(CAL App.4th (2013)P35**
- 18. **BANK OF NEW YORK V. SILVERBERG (NY APP 2ND (2011).....P29**
- 19. **CITIBANK V. McCRAY (JSC SUPREME COURT, Bronx County NY 2013)P21**
- 20. **HSBC BANK V. ESLAVA (FL 11THJud Cir 7/2010)P49**
(Legal Liability for the Note no longer exists)
- 21. **AURORA, MERS V. DA COSTA (FL CIR 4/2010).....P48**
- 22. **WELLS FARGO V. REYES (867, NY SUPREME CTKINGSCT 2008).....P48**
(Dismissed with prejudice...frivolous suit, without merit in law)
- 23. **STACHNIK V. WINKEL, (394 MICH SUPREME COURT(1975).....P48**
- 24. **HEINTZ V. JENKINS, (514 U.S. 291;115 S.CT. 1489 (1995).....P48**
- 25. **M&T BANK V. SMITH (FL Cir 6/2010).....P25**
(Plaintiff then alleged that Wells Fargo was the owner of the note,
while the Plaintiff was merely a servicer of the loan)
- 26. **BAC/COUNTRYWIDE V. STENTZ (FL 6TH CIRCUIT PASCO CTY 12/2010).....P17**
("A THIEF who steals a check payable to the bearer becomes the holder
of the check...but does not become the OWNER of it") Judge Tepper
- 27. **FIRST UNION NAT'L BANK OF SC V. SODEN (SC Ct App 11/1998).....P47**
- 28. **BELLISTRI V. OCWEN LOAN SERVICING, LLC (MO E.DIS Ct APP, 2009).....P34**

- 29. WELLS FARGO V. EROBOBO (NY SUPREME 4/2013).....P20,21,37**
(Capacity and/or Standing to Sue; and REMICS require originals. There
Is a difference between the capacity to sue which gives the right to come
into court, and possession of a cause of action which gives the right to
relief. In Article II, section 2.01 Conveyance of Mortgage Loans, the PSA
requires that the Depositor deliver and deposit with the TRUSTEE the
original Note, the original mortgage and an original assignment).
- 30. U.S. NATL. ASSN V. SAID (SUPREME COURT, QUEENS CTY (1/2013)).....P21**
(Case Dismissed over Broken Chain of Assignments...improper chain
of assignments prior to the assignment involving Plaintiff)
- 31. BAC HOME LOANS Servicing/Countrywide V. WHITE(OK Ct APP 2011)....P22**
- 32. GILL V. FIRST NATIONAL BANK AND TRUST OF OK CITY.....P22**
- 33. VERMONT TEDDY BEAR V. 538 MADISON REALTY CO.(NY Ct.App2004).. P25**
- 34. BENNETT V. DEUTSCHE BK NAT’L TRUST CO. (FLA 4th DCA 2013).....P32**
(an ISSUE of authentication of Promissory Note)
- 35. MERS V. GIRDAVAINIS (SC Sumter Case, 2006).....P 18, 21, 23**
- 36. HAMRICK V. GMAC MORT CORP (SC CT APP 2006).....P18**
- 37. U.S. BANK & TRUST NAT’L ASS’N V. BELL (SC CT.APP 2009).....P19**
- 38. FRANKLIN CREDIT MGMT.CORP V. NICHOLAS (Conn APP. 2002)....P19**
- 39. SC NAT’L BANK V. HALTER (SC CT.APP 1987).....P19**
- 40. DEUTSCHE BANK V. HEINRICH (SC 9THJud Cir 2013).....P17,18,21**

- 41. **SUSSMAN V. SUSSMAN (NY 1978).....P26**
- 42. **VINCENT V. PUTNAME (NY 248,76,82-84 (1928).....P26**
- 43. **GLASKI V. BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. (CAL-5th APP.).....P19,38**
- 44. **BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. V. O'DONNELL (NY SUPREME CT 2015).....P 22**

(Mortgage on date action commenced vested in Freddie Mac not BOA)

NOTE: CASE OF REFERENCE TO APPEAL:

CORREA V. US BANK, N.A. (FLA 2nd DIS. CT. APP 2013)

“reasoned that in SUFFICIENCY OF EVIDENCE can be raised ON APPEAL whether or not the party raised the issue at trial, and Plaintiff failed to prove terms of the Note.” (RESPONDENT/BOA failed to prove OWNERSHIP OF NOTE AT TRIAL.)

BAC HOME LOAN SERVICING V. MAPP (Ohio, CT APP 12TH DIS. 7/2013)

“we therefore reverse the trial court’s finding that “BAC alleged lack of standing does not constitute a meritorious defense” and remand the case to the trial court for a hearing to determine BAC’s standing to sue, and correspondingly whether the trial court had jurisdiction over the foreclosure proceedings. On remand, the trial court must determine whether MERS had the authority to assign the mortgage and/or the note as the nominee for Countrywide in light of the claim that Countrywide was no longer in existence when the mortgage was assigned to BAC....”a common pleas court cannot substitute a real party in interest for another party if no party with standing has invoked its jurisdiction in the first instance. (NO proof at trial MERS had authority from Quicken Loans)

BAC FUNDING CONSORTIUM, INC. V. JEAN-JACQUES, (FLA DIS.CT APP (2010)

Plaintiff failed to offer, “evidence of a valid assignment, proof of purchase of the debt, or evidence of an effective transfer.”

STATUTES

S.C. CODE ANN. 11-22-300 (1976)	P2
S.C. UCC CODE OF LAWS 36-3-301	P33,34
SCRCP RULE 15 & (a)	P17,23
SCRCP RULE 12 (b) 6	P34
SCRCP RULE 12-6-(b)1	P34
FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE 17 (a)	P29
FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE 60 (B)	P36
FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICE ACT, 15 USC 1692,et, seq. FDCPA	P34
ARTICLE 9	P24

OTHER AUTHORITIES

- 1. Mortgage Compliance Investigators Chain of Title Analysis and Mortgage Fraud Investigation (MCI Report) & Affidavit, notarized**
- 2. Securitization Report & Affidavit sealed and Jurat**
- 3. Trial Transcript & Mot To Vacate Judgment/Cancel Sale Transcript**

III STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. Did the Trial Court err in failing to find a LACK OF STANDING and SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION based on CARPENTER V. LONGAN (U.S. Supreme Court Ruling 83 US 271 ,16 Wall. 271, 21 L. Ed 313 (1872) and YOUNG V. PEOPLE'S BANK, 163 South Carolina Supreme Court, 161 SE 2nd 324, 329 (1931)(must OWN the note) once the Bank of America witness testified at trial FANNIE MAE WAS THE INVESTOR. (R.p.430, lines 7-11) (R. p. 453, lines 23-25, p. 454, line 1) (R. pp. 482-483) (R. pp. 517-521) (R. p. 720, lines 74-100) (R. pp. 308-333) (R. pp. 583-645).**
- 2. Did the Trial Court err in not requiring proof of ownership at inception in the Court of Equity when the required ENDORSEMENTS AND DATES were missing on the submitted Note, and the endorsement and date to Fannie Mae and FANNIE MAE 2007-91 REMIC TRUST (hereafter, FNMA 2007-91) were missing altogether? (R. p. 449, lines 22-25 & p. 450, lines1-14) (R. pp 482-483) (R.p.520, lines 17-38) (R.pp.583-645) (R.pp.412-416).**
- 3. Did the Trial Court err in not dismissing this foreclosure with prejudice case once it was discovered at trial the Respondent/BOA was not the OWNER of the Note as testified by the Bank of America witness? (R. p. 430, lines,4-11).**

- 4. Did the Trial court err in failing to find this action is barred as legal “TENDER OF PAYMENT” was made on the alleged debt following the “Judgment Order and Sale”, and the alleged debt is discharged if refused? (R.pp.725-793). (R. pp. 882 & 883, lines1-50) (R. p. 904, lines 15-30 & p. 905, lines 1-3).**

- 5. Did the Trial Court err in not finding EXTRINSIC/INTRINSIC FRAUD on the Court by Respondent’s Counsel when the Respondent/ BOA knowingly misrepresented themselves by mailing the Acceleration Letter dated in 2010 when Respondent /BOA was not the Lender of record, and their Counsel continued the Acceleration Letter misrepresentation and Lender misrepresentation at the trial and submitted a fraudulent INVALID Note and MERS Assignment? (the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment entitles borrowers to defend foreclosures by challenging the Lender’s use of fraudulent documents). (R. pp. 803-813).**

- 6. Did the Trial Court err in not REQUIRING strict, clear and convincing proof when the Respondent/BOA did not provide proof of mailing the ACCELERATION LETTER, either from who, from where or when it was mailed, did not mail it to the property address as required in the Mortgage Agreement, and did not give the Appellant the required 30 days to cure? (R. pp. 442-449) (R. pp. 470-471) (R. p. 473, lines 13-26) (R.pp.518-520).**

- 7. Did the Trial Court err in not REQUIRING the Respondent/BOA to produce or provide any evidentiary proof of an AGENCY RELATIONSHIP with Quicken Loans, Inc. (the original Lender), Countrywide, MERS, Fannie Mae or the Fannie Mae 2007-91 REMIC TRUST giving authority to send the Acceleration Letter when Respondent has never been the Lender at any time, proven a debt, or proven any AUTHORITY and ENTITLEMENT for a Power of Sale or to FORECLOSE on the APPELLANT'S REAL PROPERTY from the OWNER of the Note and Mortgage? (R. pp.455-456)(R.p.518, lines 2-16)(R.p.520,lines 24-41)**
- 8. Did the Trial Court err in not finding the Respondent/BOA bears the BURDEN OF PROOF as the Plaintiff at trial and command strict proof as such concerning Appellant's Affirmative Defenses and Counter Claim as well as Appellant's Trial Closing Summary and causes of actions in this document dated February 20, 2015?(R.pp.22-25)(R.pp.106-152)(R.p.412)(R.pp.517-521).**
- 9. Did the Trial Court err in not requiring compliance with Article 8 and ordering the full documents to prove compliance with the PSA GUIDELINES knowing from Appellant's Affirmative Defenses & Counter Claim, the Securitization Report with Affidavit/Jurat sent to him in previous Motions, that the Note is securitized and a non-negotiable note under Article 9?(R. p. 415, lines1-14), (R.pp.359-388) (R. pp. 583-645) (R.pp.262-263)(R.pp.865-871)(R.pp.902-903).**

- 10. Did the Trial Court err in not requiring the Respondent/BOA to follow the PSA GUIDELINES on the securitized Note which requires all the endorsements, assignments, negotiations and deliveries with proper dates and authentic signatures to be recorded in accordance with County Laws, Securities Laws and New York Trust Laws? (R. p. 414, lines 19-23 & p. 415, lines, 1-22)(R.pp.359-388)(R.p.450,lines 1-13)(R.pp.805-807)(R.pp.865-871).**
- 11. Did the Trial Court err in not requiring clear and convincing evidentiary proof the Respondent/BOA OWNS the Note and Mortgage and OWNED the Note at the filing of the Original Complaint and inception of this case in order to have subject matter jurisdiction? (R.p.10, line24)(R. p. 403, line20) (R.p.404,line 30)(R.pp.22-25)(R. pp. 412-415)(R. pp.520-521)(R.pp.805-807).**
- 12. Did the Trail Court err in not finding the NOTE INVALID when there was no Endorsement or validity of signatures on the Note to Fannie Mae or the FANNIE MAE 2007-91 REMIC TRUST and lacked required dates on the endorsements violating the New York Trust Laws where the trust is located? (R. pp. 482-483) (R. p. 450, lines 1-14) (R.p.455, lines 1-25) (R. pp. 520-21).**

13. Did the Trial Court err in not questioning the alleged debt when the **COMPUTERIZED PAYMENT SHEETS** of the alleged loan submitted at trial were not trustworthy, since the Bank of America witness did not create them, no proof was offered as to how they originated from the original Lender, and the hearsay sheets lacked the payoff from Fannie Mae and Appellant's original promissory note entries of the cash payment item? (R. pp. 489-493) (R.p.655, lines 9-18) (Glarum case)(R.p.901, line22&p.902).
14. Did the Trial Court err in not dismissing the case with prejudice when at the Motion to Vacate Judgement Order and Cancel Sale hearing, Appellant Deaner gave clear and convincing evidence in the "MORTGAGE COMPLIANCE INVESTIGATOR'S REPORT" (hereafter, MCI REPORT) of supporting matters of law, facts of merit, material facts, causes of action and fraud in the report concerning the **CHAIN OF TITLE ANALYSIS AND THE MORTGAGE FRAUD INVESTIGATION** confirming Appellants Affirmative Defenses and Counter Claim?(R.pp.410-416)(R.pp.583-645)(R. pp. 647-656) (R.p.570, lines 80-100 of page 36 of transcript) (R. pp. 718-720).
15. Did the Trial Court err in not doing everything possible to promote justice, fairness, and truth in the "Court of Equity" after the MCI Report was presented to the Court, and Appellant requested the Court to order documents to prove ownership of Note at the Motion to Vacate hearing? (R.p.719, lines 18-34,"Your request is noted")(R. pp. 864-871)(R.pp.901-905)

- 16. Did the Trial Court err in not acknowledging the “MORTGAGE COMPLIANCE INVESTIGATOR’S REPORT”/ CHAIN OF TITLE ANALYSIS AND MORTGAGE FRAUD INVESTIGATION WITH AFFIDAVIT, was worthy of serious consideration once the Appellant testified she verified with JULIE STUTTS, DEPUTY REGISTRAR, AT THE AIKEN COUNTY MESNE CONVEYANCE RECORDS that no recordings existed to Countrywide Bank, FSB, Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. or to Fannie Mae or to the Fannie Mae REMIC TRUST 2007-91, and then to BAC Home Loans Servicing on file in the records? (R. p. 886).**
- 17. Did the Trial Court err is not requiring clear and convincing evidence from Respondent/BOA at Trial concerning OWNERSHIP OF THE NOTE and MORTGAGE at the time of filing the Original Complaint, legal and title rights, agency rights, proof of a debt, and a true party of interest with power of sale entitlement to foreclose on the Appellant’s real property? (R.pp.22-25)(R. pp. 243-303) (R. p. 520, lines 17-41) (R. p. 521, lines, 1-18).**
- 18. Did the Trial Court err in not dismissing this case with prejudice since the Respondent/BOA, predecessors and successors VIOLATED the SOUTH CAROLINA CONVERSION LAWS when they changed the Note to a securitized stock certificate since the Note cannot be changed, altered or made different and is in violation of the Mortgage Agreement without written authorization by Appellant Deaner to securitize her alleged loan? (R.p.720).**

- 19. Did the Trial Court err in not REQUIRING the Respondent/BOA to prove at trial proper considerations were paid and to whom concerning the Chain of Title? (R. pp. 412-415) (R. p. 430, lines 7-11) (R. pp. 449-451) (R. p. 520, lines 17-41) (R. p. 613) (R. pp. 585-613).**
- 20. Did the Trial Court err in not dismissing this case with prejudice and grant the Appellant recoupment once Court was informed at Motion to Vacate that the Appellant is maker and first transferor of the Original Promissory Note, is registered in the Appellant's name as creditor on her UCC 1 Financial Statement, and the promissory is a cash item meaning no loan was ever made, but only an exchange or swap of currency, and a registered Note trumps an INVALID Note held by the Respondent/BOA at the trial? (R. pp. 647-704).**
- 21. Did the Trial Court err in not REQUIRING THE Respondent/BOA in a Court of Equity to prove the chain of title when the required endorsement was missing to FANNIE MAE and the FANNIE MAE 2007-91 REMIC TRUST on the non-negotiable Note once the Bank of America witness stated at trial Fannie Mae was the investor and OWNER of the Note ?(R.p.430, lines 7-11).**

- 22. Did the Trial Court err and not dismiss this case when at trial, the Bank of America witness could not authenticate damages to Bank of America concerning the alleged loan principle and interest, and any other expenses except those being from contributory negligence brought about by this wrongful foreclosure action by the Respondent/BOA? (R. pp. 452-453) (R. p. 454, lines 1-3)(R.p. 517 & 518,lines 1-16)(R.p.410,line13-14 & p.411,line1-3).**
- 23. Did the Trial Court err in not dismissing this case with prejudice when MERS does not hold NOTES or have any ENTITLEMENT RIGHTS TO NOTES, therefore, cannot assign Notes which is the alleged debt in this case or has any authority to assign Notes or has beneficiary rights to ENTITLEMENT? (R. p. 518, lines 10-16) (R. p. 620) (R. pp. 628-630)(R.p.410,line13-14 & p. 411, lines, 1-7 & lines 12-20) (R. p. 413, lines 1-5).**
- 24. Did the Trial Court err in not dismissing this case with prejudice when MERS assigned BOTH NOTE and MORTGAGE, thus SPLITTING THE NOTE FROM THE MORTGAGE causing it to become NULL AND VOID as well as the NOTE being SPLIT when it was securitized making the Note NULL and VOID and UNSECURED which was bankrupted and discharged in 2011 in Appellant's personal bankruptcy? (R.pp.308-333 & 388) (R.p.255, lines 1-6). (R.p.413,line6-12)(R.p.807,line,15-31 & p.808,line10)(R.p.879,lines 95-100).**

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