THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas Case No. 2012-CP-02-00699  
Referee James Martin Harvey, Jr.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-001119

**RECEIVED**  
DEC 06 2016  
SC Court of Appeals

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., SUCCESSOR BY MERGER TO BAC HOME LOANS  
SERVICING, LP fka COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS SERVICING, LP,

*Respondent*

v.

CAROLYN DEANER,

*Appellant.*

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.**

Robert A. Muckenfuss (SC Bar # 13903)  
Trent Grissom (SC Bar # 77718)  
**MCGUIREWOODS LLP**  
201 North Tryon Street, Suite 3000  
Charlotte, North Carolina 28202  
Telephone: (704) 343-2000  
Facsimile: (704) 343-2300

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

In light of these facts, the Special Referee properly found and concluded that the evidence and testimony presented at trial was sufficient to meet BANA's burden of proof that the Acceleration Letter was properly sent to Deaner pursuant to the terms of the Mortgage. Accordingly, the Special Referee's Order denying Deaner's Motion to Reconsider Judgment should be affirmed.

**II. This Court lacks jurisdiction to consider Deaner's issues regarding standing, securitization, and her alleged "tender" of the debt.**

The vast majority of Deaner's initial brief on appeal appears to challenge BANA's standing to prosecute the foreclosure action on multiple grounds, including that BANA did not prove "ownership" of the Note and Mortgage and that securitization of the Note and Mortgage and MERS's Assignment of the loan documents somehow rendered the Note and Mortgage

invalid and/or unsecured. (*See generally* Appellant's In. Br.) Indeed, Deaner's initial brief appears to be an amalgamation of multiple filings by Deaner in the foreclosure action over the last two years. (*See, e.g.*, R. pp. 67–104, 106–155, 243–307.) Deaner also raises the issue in her Initial Brief that the Special Referee improperly rejected Deaner's argument that the debt should be discharged based on her alleged "tender" of an "International Promissory Note." (*See* Appellant's In. Br. p. 38.) However, none of these issues were raised in Deaner's Motion to Reconsider Judgment. (*See* R. p. 538.) Rather, these issues were addressed either at the February 4, 2015 trial and resulting Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale entered March 10, 2015, or in the Special Referee's June 1, 2015 Order. (*See* R. pp. 526–534, 795–800.) Because Deaner has failed to notice an appeal from either the Judgment or the June 1, 2015 Order, this Court lacks jurisdiction to consider Deaner's issues.

Under South Carolina law, a party intending to appeal an order or judgment entered by a Special Referee must serve notice of their appeal within thirty (30) days after receipt of that order or judgment. Rule 203, SCACR. Indeed, "[t]he requirement of service of the notice of appeal is jurisdictional, *i.e.*, if a party misses the deadline, the appellate court lacks jurisdiction to consider the appeal and has no authority or discretion to 'rescue' the delinquent party by extending or ignoring the deadline for service of the notice." *Elam v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 14–15, 602 S.E.2d 772, 775 (2004). Furthermore, under South Carolina law, "[i]t is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review." *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). Thus, when an issue is not addressed in a trial court's judgment or order, and the appellant does not bring a motion to alter or amend the judgment or order pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCR, the issue is not preserved for appellate

review. See, e.g., *S.C. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co. v. S.E.C.U.R.E. Underwriters Risk Retention Grp.*, 347 S.C. 333, 343, 554 S.E.2d 870, 875 (Ct. App. 2001) (holding that issue raised by appellant to trial court that was never ruled on by the trial court was not preserved for appellate review (citing *Noisette v. Ismail*, 304 S.C. 56, 403 S.E.2d 122 (1991) (issue was not preserved for appellate review where the trial court did not explicitly rule on the appellant's argument and the appellant made no Rule 59(e), SCRCP, motion to alter or amend the judgment))).

Here, Deaner's global arguments concerning standing, securitization (including the authority of MERS to assign the Note and Mortgage), and tender are predicated on the contention that the Special Referee erred by (1) finding as fact that BANA had standing as both servicer of the loan and holder of the Note to prosecute the foreclosure action, (2) finding as fact that the mortgage loan was a valid lien on the Property, and (3) rejecting Deaner's argument regarding her "tender" of payment. (See generally Appellant's In. Br.) None of these issues were addressed in Deaner's Motion to Reconsider Judgment or the Special Referee's April 1, 2015 Order, from which Deaner appealed. Thus, this Court lacks jurisdiction to consider these issues raised by Deaner, as Deaner has failed to notice an appeal from either the March 10, 2015 Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale or the June 1, 2015 Order, the thirty (30) day time frame for Deaner to appeal either of these rulings has expired, and ultimately, these issues were not addressed in the Order being appealed from, even if they had been raised at the hearing on Deaner's Motion to Reconsider. Therefore, to the extent Deaner's appeal is based on these issues, it should be dismissed.

**III. To the extent Deaner's arguments concerning standing, securitization, and tender are preserved for review, they suffer from multiple fatal defects and are easily dismissed.**

Assuming, *arguendo*, that Deaner had preserved her arguments concerning standing, securitization, and tender for appellate review, Deaner's arguments suffer from multiple fatal

defects and are easily dismissed. Deaner's arguments, to the best BANA can decipher them, ultimately assert that (1) BANA lacked standing to prosecute the foreclosure action because BANA did not prove that it was "owner" of the Note; (2) the mortgage loan is invalid and/or unsecured in light of an alleged securitization of the Note and Mortgage and the "splitting" of the Note from the Mortgage; and (3) MERS lacked authority to assign the Note and Mortgage to BANA, and therefore the Assignment is invalid and fails to convey an interest in the mortgage loan to BANA. (*See generally* Appellant's In. Br.) Deaner's arguments, however, are baseless and contrary to both the evidence presented in this case and well-established law in both South Carolina and around the country.

Specifically, as discussed in more detail below, South Carolina law is clear that the servicer of a mortgage loan, as well as the Note holder, has authority to prosecute a foreclosure action, and actual "ownership" of the Note and Mortgage is not required. *See infra* Section III.A. In addition, Deaner is judicially estopped from challenging the validity of the mortgage loan, as she represented under oath in her bankruptcy action that the subject mortgage loan was a valid first lien on the Property and that she had no counterclaims or claims in setoff. *See infra* Section III.B. Moreover, Deaner's contentions that securitization of the Note and Mortgage rendered the debt invalid and/or unsecured and that MERS lacked authority to assign the Note and Mortgage to BANA is contrary to well-established South Carolina law and law from throughout the country. *See infra* Section III.C. Finally, Deaner's arguments regarding her alleged "tender" of the debt are nothing more than a sham and were properly dismissed by the Special Referee. *See infra* Section III.D. Accordingly, the Trial Court properly entered final Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale in favor of BANA and denied Deaner's Motion to Reconsider Judgment.

- A. South Carolina law is clear that the servicer of a mortgage loan, as the Note holder, has authority to prosecute a foreclosure action, and actual “ownership” of the Note and Mortgage is not required.

“Generally, a party must be a real party in interest to the litigation to have standing.” *Hill v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Envtl. Control*, 389 S.C. 1, 22, 698 S.E.2d 612, 623 (2010) (quoting *Sloan v. Friends of the Hunley, Inc.*, 369 S.C. 20, 28, 630 S.E.2d 474, 479 (2006)). South Carolina law is clear that a loan servicer is a real party in interest to a foreclosure action and has the ability to prosecute a foreclosure action. See *Bank of Am., N.A. v. Draper*, 405 S.C. 214, 222-223, 746 S.E.2d 478, 482 (Ct. App. 2013) (citing *Bankers Trust (Delaware) v. 236 Beltway Inv.*, 865 F. Supp. 1186, 1191 (E.D.Va.1994) (concluding that both lender and servicer have standing to foreclose even if servicer is not the holder of the mortgage)). In addition, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 36-3-301, the person entitled to enforce an instrument includes “the holder of the instrument.” *Id.* Notably, this statute expressly provides that “[a] person may be a person entitled to enforce the instrument *even though the person is not the owner of the instrument* or is in wrongful possession of the instrument.” *Id.* (emphasis added). A “holder” of the instrument is defined to include “the person in possession of a negotiable instrument that is payable either to bearer or an identified person that is the person in possession.” S.C. Code Ann. § 36-1-201(21).

In this case, the evidence produced at trial unequivocally proved that BANA was both the holder of the Note and the servicer of the mortgage loan. Deloney, BANA’s corporate witness, testified at trial that BANA is the loan servicer for Deaner’s loan and that BANA and its predecessors in interest began servicing Deaner’s loan within one or two months after origination. (R. p. 430, lines 14–16; R. p. 449, lines 1–17.) Deloney also testified as to the fact that the Note was endorsed in blank and that BANA was in physical possession of the original Note, which was present in the courtroom during the trial. (R. p. 432, lines 10–17.) Moreover,

in closing arguments to the Court, counsel for Deaner stated that Deaner was *not* contesting BANA's standing to bring the foreclosure action. (R. p. 469, lines 10–14.) Since BANA unequivocally demonstrated its standing to prosecute the foreclosure action in this case, Deaner's argument on appeal to the contrary clearly fails. Therefore, the Special Referee's Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale and Order denying Deaner's Motion to Reconsider should be affirmed.

B. Deaner is judicially estopped from challenging the validity of the mortgage loan in light of her attestations filed in the bankruptcy action.

Prior to BANA instituting the subject foreclosure action, Deaner filed a voluntary Chapter 7 bankruptcy petition in the Southern District of Georgia. (See R. pp. 348–353; R. pp. 217–218.) In her bankruptcy petition, Deaner confirmed BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP, BANA's predecessor in interest, as the holder of a first mortgage lien encumbering the Property, and Deaner specifically and expressly stated that she had no claims, counterclaims, or rights to setoff claims to declare as assets. (See R. pp. 348–353; R. pp. 217–218.) “[W]here a party assumes a certain position in a legal proceeding, and succeeds in maintaining that position, [s]he may not thereafter, simply because [her] interests have changed, assume a contrary position.” *Zimmerman v. Cent. Union Bank*, 194 S.C. 518, 8 S.E.2d 359, 365 (1940) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). The statements under oath made by Deaner in her prior bankruptcy action in which she maintained that no setoffs or counterclaims existed and acknowledging that BANA had a secured first mortgage lien on the subject Property act as a bar to her assuming a contrary position in this foreclosure action, including in this appeal. Accordingly, Deaner is judicially estopped from asserting that the mortgage lien is invalid or improper in any way. Therefore, the Special Referee did not err in dismissing Deaner's counterclaims and defenses in this action, and the Special Referee's Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale and Order denying Deaner's Motion to Reconsider should be affirmed.

- C. Deaner's contentions that securitization of the Note and Mortgage rendered the debt unsecured and that MERS lacked authority to assign the Note and Mortgage to BANA is contrary to well-established South Carolina law and law from throughout the country.

Deaner's assertion that securitization of the loan wipes out the secured mortgage obligation is unsupported under South Carolina law. As discussed *supra* in Section III.A, the holder in possession of a mortgage-backed promissory note may enforce the note and mortgage without a further showing that it is the beneficial owner of the note. See *Draper*, 405 S.C. at 220–22, 746 S.E.2d at 481–82 (finding that a loan servicer was a real party in interest with standing to enforce the note and mortgage). Accordingly, securitization of the loan cannot affect a holder's right to enforce the note and mortgage.

Furthermore, South Carolina law is clear that Deaner lacks standing to challenge an assignment to which she is not a party, and South Carolina courts have consistently recognized MERS's authority as a nominee to assign rights in mortgage loan debts. "Generally, a third person not in privity of contract with the contracting parties has no right to enforce a contract." *R.J. Griffin & Co. v. Beach Club II Homeowners Ass'n.*, 384 F.3d 157, 164 (4th Cir. 2004) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted) (applying South Carolina law). A mortgagor is only a party to the mortgage, and because an assignment or mortgage is a separate contract to which the mortgagor is not a party, a mortgagor cannot question its validity. See *Reese v. U.S. Bank, N.A.*, No. 3:11-2990-CMC-SVH, 2012 WL 1952819, at \*3 (D.S.C. Apr. 30, 2012). ("Plaintiff lacks standing to contest the Assignment of the Mortgage. Plaintiff is only a party to the Mortgage and, because the Assignment is a separate contract to which Plaintiff is not a party, she cannot question its validity." (citing *R.J. Griffin & Co.*, 384 F.3d at 164)); *In re Kain*, No. 08-08404-HB, 2012 WL 1098465, at \*8 (Bankr. D.S.C. Mar. 30, 2012) ("*Whatever the context, it appears that a judicial consensus has developed holding that a borrower lacks standing to (1)*

challenge the validity of a mortgage securitization or (2) request a judicial determination that a loan assignment is invalid due to noncompliance with a pooling and servicing agreement, when the borrower is neither a party to nor a third party beneficiary of the securitization agreement, *i.e.*, the PSA.” (emphasis in original)); *see also In re MERS Litigation*, No. 09-2119-JAT, 2011 WL 4550189, at \*5 (D. Ariz. Oct. 3, 2011) (“Plaintiffs, as third-party borrowers, are uninvolved and unaffected by the alleged Assignments, and do not possess standing to assert a claim based on such.”); *Kriegel v. MERS*, No. PC-2010-7099, 2011 WL 4947398, at \*5 (R.I. Super. Ct. Oct. 13, 2011) (“The assignment from MERS to FNMA did not cause injury in fact to the Plaintiff, as the assignment did not change his obligation to timely pay the Mortgage Note or suffer the consequences of foreclosure.”). Accordingly, because Deaner was not a party to the Assignment, she therefore cannot question its validity. *See R.J. Griffin & Co.*, 384 F.3d at 164.

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